**RECEIVED**  
**Jun 01 2022**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONNIELLE K. MATTHEWS,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000677

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err by charging the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence Appellant stabbed the decedent, her husband, in the sudden heat of passion, rather the evidence showed Appellant either acted with malice or in self-defense, and where Appellant was prejudiced because the jury compromised and found her guilty of voluntary manslaughter?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant on November 13, 2017 for the offense of murder. R. 1068-1069. A pretrial hearing on several motions *in limine* was held on July 28, 2020 before the Honorable Steven H. John. Assistant Solicitors Martin Spratlin and Seth Oskin represented the state. Ralph J. Wilson, Sr. represented Appellant. Appellant's case was called to trial on June 14, 2021 before Judge John, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Martin Spratlin and Seth Oskin represented the state. R. 1. Ralph J. Wilson, Sr. represented Appellant. R. 1.

On June 18, 2021, the jury acquitted Appellant of murder, but found her guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 1045, ll. 5-16. After a hearing on June 22, 2021, Judge John found Appellant presented credible evidence pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 “of a history of domestic violence . . . suffered at the hands of” the decedent, her husband. R. 1064, l. 15 – 1065, l. 19. This finding makes Appellant eligible for parole after serving one-fourth of her sentence. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90. Appellant was subsequently sentenced to thirty years imprisonment. R. 1065, ll. 20-25.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and the decedent, Dennis Green, met in Myrtle Beach in June 2011. R. 660, ll. 6-11. Appellant, who is from Baltimore, was staying with her grandmother in Orangeburg for the summer. R. 658, ll. 4-23. While there, she traveled to Myrtle Beach. Appellant met Green at a strip club. They exchanged numbers that night, went out to breakfast the following morning, and, more or less, “were together ever since.” R. 659, l. 17 – 660, l. 18. After Appellant returned to Orangeburg, she visited Green in Myrtle Beach on weekends that summer until she returned to Baltimore at the end of July 2011. R. 660, l. 20 – 661, l. 5. In October 2011, Appellant moved to Little River, in Horry County, where Green lived. Appellant and Green rented a condo together and got engaged in December 2011. R. 661, l. 1 – 662, l. 14.

Green became physically abusive toward Appellant starting around January 2012. R. 662, l. 16 – 663, l. 24. The first time Appellant recalled Green being abusive was when Green “slapped” her because they ran “out of peaches.” On the second occasion, Appellant remembered Green struck her and they “tussled” because Appellant was not ready to go out to celebrate her birthday when Green returned home. R. 662, l. 16 – 663, l. 6. The abuse continued until Green’s death in July 2017.

In February 2012, Green introduced Appellant to the mother of his children, Alethia Price. R. 664, l. 2 – 665, l. 24. Appellant and Alethia got along well and the three began a sexual relationship. Appellant, Green, Alethia, and their children moved into an apartment together in Longs shortly thereafter. R. 668, l. 11 – 669, l. 19. This living arrangement and intimate relationship lasted about a month. R. 546, ll. 2-4; R. 670, ll. 16-22. Alethia and the children eventually moved out because Green became jealous of the relationship between Appellant and Alethia and arguments ensued. According to Alethia, Appellant was also jealous of the

relationship between Green and Alethia. She claimed, “Both of them were jealous if I got too close [to] the other one.” R. 546, l. 25 – 547, l. 10. Green was also abusive. Appellant testified, “You never knew what might set him off and he would slap you, punch you, throw you, something.” Alethia “got tired of it” and left. R. 671, ll. 1-25.

Around April 2012, Appellant’s sister, Demetria Matthews, came from Baltimore to live with Appellant and Green. Demetria stayed with the couple for six to eight months. R. 674, ll. 4-12; R. 868, l. 12 – 869, l. 4. While Demetria was there, the couple went out “drinking” more. R. 674, ll. 13-19. Appellant quickly learned that Green was “an angry drunk.” R. 674, ll. 17-19. The “beatings” continued during this time. They often occurred in the car on the way home after the couple had been out drinking or once the couple returned home. R. 674, ll. 13-23. Green was rarely physically abusive in front of others. R. 674, l. 22 – 675, l. 3.

Demetria described one night when she went to a bar with Appellant, Green, and one of Green’s friends. R. 870, ll. 14-16. Green was agitated at the bar because “he was ready to leave” but Appellant and Demetria wanted to stay longer. R. 870, ll. 16-19. The group eventually left the bar and got into the car. R. 870, ll. 19-20. Appellant was in the driver’s seat, Green was in the front passenger seat, and Demetria and Green’s friend were in the backseat. R. 870, ll. 21-23. Demetria testified that Green “punched her [Appellant] in the face while she was driving” “because she [Appellant] talked back to him.” R. 870, ll. 23-25. Demetria and Green’s friend had to intervene. R. 870, l. 25 – 871, l. 3. Demetria described several other occasions in which she witnessed Green strike or beat Appellant. R. 871, l. 6 – 872, l. 3. Demetria eventually returned to Baltimore after Green became physically aggressive toward her. Specifically, on the way home from a friend’s house one night, Green stopped the car, pulled Demetria out of the backseat, and

punched her because he was angry she had previously intervened in a separate altercation that night. R. 872, l. 11 – 873, l. 24.

Appellant left Green on several occasions because of the abuse. The first time she left was in January 2013. R. 679, l. 16 – 680, l. 7. Appellant moved back to Baltimore and lived with her family for approximately eight months. R. 680, ll. 8-13. Around August 2013, Appellant returned to Myrtle Beach to vacation with her family. She “wound up telling Dennis [Green] that [they] were coming down.” R. 680, ll. 15-25. Green picked Appellant up from a hotel and she spent a couple of days with him. R. 680, l. 25 – 681, l. 5. She was supposed to return to Baltimore with her family at the end of the week. R. 682, ll. 2-12. However, on the second night she was there, Green punched Appellant in the mouth while they were drinking and, because of the visible injury to her face, Appellant hid from her father. When her family could not find her at the end of the week, they returned to Baltimore without her. R. 682, ll. 2-24.

Appellant left Green again sometime in 2014. R. 683, ll. 3-9. She returned to Baltimore for several months. R. 683, ll. 10-21. While she was away, Green moved from Horry County to Covington, Georgia. R. 683, l. 22 – 684, l. 7. Green eventually picked Appellant up from Baltimore and she moved to Georgia with him. R. 683, l. 22 – 684, l. 7. The couple lived in an apartment in Covington from 2014 until Green’s death in July 2017. R. 686, ll. 2-7.

While Appellant and Green were living in Georgia, Green worked for a landscaping company called Pro Cutters. R. 686, ll. 16-22. He worked Monday through Thursday. R. 687, ll. 2-5. Every Thursday night, Green would drive back to Little River to see his children and family. He would stay in South Carolina until Sunday night. R. 687, ll. 2-12. Appellant never traveled with Green to Little River. She opted to remain in Georgia with their dogs. R. 687, ll. 13-16. Appellant did not like coming to Little River because Green tended to be more abusive while the

couple was there. R. 694, ll. 10-23. She “would have to worry about him getting mad and punching [her] in the face.” R. 694, ll. 10-15.

Appellant stayed with Green despite the abuse because he was the “sole provider for [her] entire existence.” R. 691, ll. 1-7. Green refused to allow Appellant to work. R. 688, l. 23 – 689, l. 4. He paid all the bills. “He paid for everything.” R. 689, ll. 5-17. “It got to a point” where Appellant “was totally and completely dependent on him.” R. 691, ll. 1-7. Appellant also stayed with Green because she loved him. R. 689, ll. 22-25. They “were happy.” R. 689, ll. 22-25. “[I]n [her] mind . . . the good outweighed the bad.” R. 689, l. 22 – 690, l. 1.

During the first week of July 2017, Appellant’s mother traveled from Baltimore to Myrtle Beach to celebrate the Fourth of July. R. 693, ll. 13-15. Green was also in Myrtle Beach at the time. He had traveled to Little River the Thursday before as usual. R. 695, ll. 1-8. He planned to stay the week because his son’s birthday was Wednesday, July 5. R. 693, ll. 16-19. Appellant did not plan to come to Myrtle Beach. R. 694, ll. 1-8. However, on Monday, July 3, her mother asked her to come up. Green likewise “started calling” and told Appellant she “might as well come on” since her mother was in town. Appellant “let the two of them talk [her] into coming to the beach.” R. 693, ll. 19-25. She drove up on the night of the third. R. 695, ll. 11-12.

While she was in Myrtle Beach, Appellant and Green stayed at the condo her mother had rented. R. 697, ll. 1-23. They celebrated the Fourth of July and Green’s youngest son’s birthday with family. See R. 698, l. 22 - 703, l. 25. On the night of July 6, 2017, Green wanted Appellant to meet another woman he was seeing, Antoinette Vereen. R. 708, ll. 14-21. Appellant learned about Antoinette sometime between March and May 2017. R. 708, l. 22 – 709, l. 2. Green saw other women throughout the entirety of his relationship with Appellant. It was “normal.” R. 710, l. 4 – 711, l. 6. The couple occasionally “brought other women into their marriage.” R. 323, l. 22

– 324, l. 3; R. 344, ll. 22-25; R. 379, l. 21 – 380, l. 5. Green was “excited” about Appellant and Antoinette meeting that night. R. 712, ll. 7-11.

“The agreement was that [they] weren’t going to be out long” because Appellant was tired. She had watched Green’s children all day. R. 714, ll. 1-4. Green drove. They picked up Antoinette at her house around half past midnight on the morning of July 7, 2017. R. 349, ll. 18-21. As Antoinette was walking to the car, Green and Appellant “talked about her legs.” She had long legs. R. 715, ll. 2-7. Appellant got out of the car, which only had two doors, to allow Antoinette to get inside. Antoinette was about to climb into the backseat, but Appellant told her she did not want her to get into the backseat “with them legs.” Appellant got into the backseat and Antoinette got in the front seat. R. 715, ll. 7-11. Dennis drove them to Ricky’s Dockside, a bar in Little River. R. 322, l. 18 – 323, l. 8; R. 348, ll. 5-8; R. 716, ll. 20-25.

When they arrived at Ricky’s Dockside, Appellant and Antoinette sat at the bar. Green got them all drinks. Green was back and forth between the bar and the pool tables while Appellant and Antoinette talked at the bar. Green wanted the women to “to get to know each other.” R. 717, ll. 3-21. They stayed at Ricky’s Dockside for about forty-five minutes to an hour. R. 718, l. 22 – 719, l. 1. Each of them had about two drinks. R. 718, ll. 12-21.

After Ricky’s Dockside, they went to Thee DollHouse, a strip club in North Myrtle Beach. R. 350, ll. 1-5; R. 376, l. 24 – 377, l. 1. Green drove, Antoinette sat in the front passenger seat, and Appellant sat in the backseat. R. 719, ll. 22-23. They stayed at Thee DollHouse for about an hour and a half to two hours. R. 351, ll. 2-5; R. 722, ll. 4-9. They each had at least two to three drinks there. R. 721, l. 24 – 722, l. 3. Antoinette claimed Appellant “c[a]me on to [her]” while they were at Thee DollHouse and tried to kiss her while the women were in the bathroom. R. 351, l. 12 – 352, l. 1. While Antoinette was “open” to having a three person relationship with Appellant and

Green, she was “uncomfortable” when Appellant tried to kiss her because they had just met. R. 352, ll. 2-16; R. 370, l. 1 – 371, l. 8. However, the women were “laughing and talking and flirting” the “whole night.” R. 725, ll. 9-12.

They eventually left Thee DollHouse around 4:00 am and went to Denny’s, a diner in North Myrtle Beach. R. 352, l. 20 – 353, l. 5. Appellant reminded Green that he “promised” her they would not be “out all night.” This agitated Green. R. 722, ll. 10-19. When they arrived at Denny’s, Appellant and Antoinette went straight to the bathroom. R. 355, ll. 2-12; R. 723, ll. 6-22. Antoinette had told Appellant about her nipple piercings while they were at Thee DollHouse and Appellant wanted to see them. R. 372, ll. 18-20; R. 722, l. 25 – 723, l. 15. The women were in the bathroom for so long (twelve minutes) that Green “came and knocked on the door.” R. 355, ll. 10-17; R. 373, ll. 15-18; R. 723, l. 23 – 724, l. 4. When they finally came out, Green asked them what “the F” they were doing and what took so long. R. 357, ll. 1-4.

The group stayed at Denny’s for about forty-five minutes. R. 177, ll. 17-19. The waitress who served the three testified Appellant and Antoinette seemed to “still [be] having a good time.” R. 832, l. 19 – 833, l. 1. However, Green “seemed tired and a little bit aggravated.” R. 833, ll. 2-5. He appeared “ready to leave.” R. 833, ll. 2-5. Antoinette confirmed that “by a certain point” Green “was ready to go.” R. 359, ll. 2-4. The waitress did not notice any “tension” among the group nor did she hear any of them raise their voice or be disrespectful. R. 833, ll. 9-17. She had no reason to believe there was any “animosity or hostility going on.” R. 834, ll. 2-11. Antoinette likewise stated there was no “arguing or hostility” at the table. R. 358, ll. 22-24.

Appellant recalled that while they were sitting at the table, Green “said something about me [Appellant] being disrespectful.” R. 726, ll. 16-18. In response, Appellant told Green “you’re acting like a B-I-T-C-H, and he called me one, and I said your mom is one, and he said, your dad

is one.” R. 726, ll. 18-20. Appellant explained, “[W]hat I said to him is something that I say all the time whenever he says that to me, I say your mother, . . . but he’s never made that remark about my dad.” R. 726, ll. 20-23. Taken aback, Appellant called her father and gave the phone to Green. Green “just . . . mumbled . . . something and then slid the phone back across the table.” R. 726, l. 25 – 727, l. 3. Appellant then quickly texted her father an explanation as to why she called. She told him Green was “showing out” because commenting about her father was “not something he would have normally done or said.” Appellant thought Green was acting different because Antoinette was around.<sup>1</sup> R. 727, ll. 5-12.

When they left Denny’s, Appellant got into the back seat of the car where she had been sitting all night. Antoinette sat in the front passenger seat and Green drove. R. 731, ll. 3-14. Appellant denied hitting Green when they first got into the car. R. 731, ll. 15-24. She testified, “I would not hit him because he would hit me back.” She elaborated, “I would never swing on him first. Like I just wouldn’t. Because I would get beat up. . . . Or dragged or whatever he felt like he was gonna do.” R. 731, l. 25 – 732, l. 9. Conversely, during the state’s presentation of evidence, Antoinette claimed that when they first got into the car in the Denny’s parking lot, Appellant hit Green on “the side of his face” with a “closed fist.” R. 362, ll. 2-17. Antoinette further claimed Appellant told Green “you shouldn’t have married me; you should’ve married her [Antoinette].” R. 362, ll. 18-22.

Green drove Antoinette straight home. R. 362, ll. 3-20. On the way to her house, the group was listening to music. Antoinette was singing. R. 732, l. 25 – 733, l. 12. When Antoinette got out

---

<sup>1</sup> The state admitted the content of the text message during its case in chief. Appellant allegedly texted her father at 5:06 am on July 7, 2017. It read, “He’s showing off for somebody else. I told him he ain’t no man and called him a bitch. He says my daddy is a bitch. So I called you so he could say it to you himself. He hangs up the phone. The next time I bring this muthafucker to Baltimore [you] better beat his ass.” R. 514, ll. 8-21.

of the car at her house, she “lift[ed] the seat up” and asked Appellant “if she wanted to get in the front seat.” R. 363, l. 19 – 364, l. 2; R. 732, ll. 13-20. Appellant told her no. R. 364, ll. 1-7; R. 732, ll. 16-20. Antoinette “shrugged her shoulders and put the seat back and said bye and closed the door.” R. 732, ll. 23-24. At trial, Appellant explained that at the time she was sitting with her back up against the window on the passenger side and her legs across the backseat. Her feet were behind the driver’s seat. R. 732, ll. 20-22; R. 733, l. 22 – 734, l. 6.

After they dropped Antoinette off, Green “started fussing and calling [Appellant] names.” Appellant was “like, yeah, yeah, whatever.” R. 734, ll. 13-17. Appellant then reached for her “auxiliary cord” that was plugged into the radio at the front of the car. She explained that her auxiliary cord was “a white cord that goes from the radio to your phone and you play music from your phone, and it plays through the radio in the car.” R. 734, l. 13 – 735, l. 11. As Appellant was reaching for the cord, Green, who knew Appellant “was about to turn the music on and turn it up loud, like to ignore him,” grabbed Appellant’s arm, hit the brake, and pulled her into the front of the car. R. 735, ll. 12-25. When Green hit the brakes, Appellant “flew forward” and hit her head on the glove compartment. R. 736, ll. 3-7. Appellant was “pretty much down on the floor.” R. 735, ll. 17-18. Her head and shoulders were down on the floorboard of the front passenger seat while her legs and feet were across the center console between the driver’s seat and the front passenger seat. R. 736, ll. 3-11.

Green stopped the car in the middle of the road not that far from Antoinette’s house. R. 736, ll. 19-23. After pulling her forward, Green began hitting Appellant on “any part of [her] body that was available to be hit,” including her head, shoulders, and legs. R. 736, ll. 13-18. Appellant was trying to get up. She used her right arm, which was “down on the floor underneath [her] body,” to try to push herself back up. R. 737, ll. 5-9. Every time Appellant would push herself

up, Green would hit her on the head and everything “would . . . be black.” R. 737, ll. 5-11. She repeatedly asked Green to stop, but he never stopped. R. 738, ll. 17-24.

Appellant could not remember how long this went on. R. 737, ll. 11-12. She was “reaching” and “swinging” with her left arm. R. 737, ll. 9-13. Green continued to hit her. R. 740, ll. 3-9. Eventually, she located a knife in the cupholder of the center console. R. 737, ll. 12-14. She grabbed it with her left hand and “swung” it toward Green “like get off me, stop hitting me.” R. 737, ll. 12-15; R. 740, ll. 3-9. Appellant knew of no other way to stop Green from beating her. R. 738, l. 25 – 739, l. 25. She was trapped in the car with him and had nowhere to go. She was afraid for her “safety” and “well-being.” R. 739, ll. 14-16.

Green continued to hit Appellant. After a while, he realized he had been stabbed and stopped. R. 740, ll. 3-10. Appellant was able to regain her “balance” and “get up in the front.” R. 740, ll. 10-11. Surprised, Green said “baby, I can’t believe you stabbed me.” R. 740, ll. 11-12. Appellant was crying and told Green she was sorry, that she had told him to stop hitting her. Green also apologized and tried to calm Appellant down, who began to panic when she saw the blood. R. 740, ll. 12-23. Green took the knife from Appellant and told her she “needed to take him to the hospital.” R. 740, l. 16 – 741, l. 7. The knife was never recovered. The last time Appellant saw it was when Green took it out of her hand. R. 747, ll. 2-6.

Somehow, although Appellant could not remember how, Appellant and Green switched seats and Appellant drove Green to the hospital. R. 741, l. 11 – 742, l. 1. The two “talked all the way to the hospital” and came up with a “plan” of what “to tell the police.” R. 743, ll. 11-18. The plan was for Appellant to tell the police that Green “stopped at a store” and Appellant did not know what happened. R. 743, ll. 19-22. Green came up with this story because “he didn’t want [Appellant] to get in trouble.” R. 743, ll. 23-25.

Appellant did as Green instructed. She told officers at Seacoast Medical Center and later at Grand Strand Medical Center after Green was transferred, that Green stopped at a gas station in North Myrtle Beach to purchase cigarettes and when he returned to the car he said he had been stabbed and asked her to take him to the hospital. R. 408, l. 10 – 414, l. 5; R. 444, l. 24 – 445, l. 2; State’s Exhibit No. 1 (DVD Martin Bodycam); State’s Exhibit No. 14 (DVD Beaudoin Bodycam); State’s Exhibit No. 23 (Voluntary Statement); State’s Exhibit No. 33 (DVD Franklin Bodycam). Appellant did not think Green was going to die. They “had a whole conversation on the way to the hospital” and Green “kept saying he was okay.” R. 744, ll. 11-14. A nurse at Grand Strand later told Appellant that Green was stable. R. 745, ll. 12-17.

Around midday, a detective told Appellant she should leave the hospital and “get some rest” since she had been up all night. R. 610, ll. 17-25; R. 625, l. 17 – 626, l. 8. Appellant returned to the condo her mother had rented. While she was there, an officer arrived and told her Green had passed. R. 626, ll. 9-17. He ultimately died from two stab wounds to the right chest, which caused massive blood loss. R. 593, ll. 1-2; R. 594, ll. 3-17; R. 595, ll. 2-19.

After being informed of Green’s death, Appellant left Myrtle Beach with her mother, who was scheduled to leave that day, and, with permission from law enforcement, traveled to Orangeburg, where her grandmother lived. R. 626, l. 18 – 627, l. 2. The next day, July 8, 2017, Detectives Gregory Lent and Jack Johnson, with the Horry County Police Department, traveled to Orangeburg to interview Appellant. R. 616, l. 24 – 617, l. 2. They already had a warrant for her arrest. R. 627, ll. 4-6. The detectives picked Appellant up from her grandmother’s house and took her to the Orangeburg County Sheriff’s Office to be interviewed. R. 627, ll. 7-20. They did not tell her they already had a warrant. R. 627, ll. 7-12.

During her interview with Johnson and Lent, Appellant was very emotional and did not provide a lot of details. State's Exhibit No. 89 (DVD Matthews Interview). She frequently stated, "I don't know." State's Exhibit No. 89 (DVD Matthews Interview). She told Lent that Green stopped in the middle of the road. It was dark. Green hit her. State's Exhibit No. 89 (DVD Matthews Interview). She ultimately struck him with the knife. State's Exhibit No. 89 (DVD Matthews Interview).

Appellant presented the testimony of Whitney Danso, a clinical psychologist. R. 784, ll. 6-13. Danso was qualified as an expert in clinical psychology without objection. R. 787, l. 24 – 788, l. 3. She determined Appellant met the diagnostic criteria for posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD). R. 791, ll. 19-24. It was apparent that Appellant "had been a victim of domestic violence." R. 793, ll. 2-3. Green "slowly developed control over different aspects of [Appellant's] life." R. 793, ll. 20-22. Appellant and Green's relationship was characterized by "escalating violence." R. 794, ll. 9-17. Over time, Green "became increasingly more violent" toward Appellant. For example, "blows started being directed to her head versus . . . being slapped or smacked." R. 794, ll. 10-13. Appellant feared Green. R. 799, ll. 17-19.

Appellant also presented the testimony of Christopher Robinson, who was qualified as an expert in crime scene reconstruction without objection. R. 844, l. 20 – 845, l. 1. Robinson reviewed all of the evidence in the case, including the police reports, the autopsy report, Appellant's interviews with law enforcement, and photographs from the "crime scene" and autopsy. R. 846, l. 17 – 847, l. 9. He also listened to Appellant's testimony before the jury. R. 851, ll. 10-11. Based on all the evidence, Robinson concluded that a "serious struggle" occurred inside the car. R. 850, ll. 10-24. "A vast majority" of Appellant's fingernails were broken off and found scattered throughout the car, mostly in the front. R. 850, l. 10 – 851, l. 21. A shoeprint was found on the

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