**RECEIVED**

**May 17 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000677

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DONNIELLE K. MATTHEWS,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29526  
(843)-915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge did not err in instructing the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter because evidence existed from which the jury could infer that Appellant killed Victim in the heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.**

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in charging the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter because there was no evidence Appellant stabbed Victim in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Appellant argues there was only evidence that she acted with malice or that she acted in self-defense. Appellant's argument ignores her own testimony and the testimony of Antoinette Vereen. Antoinette testified that Appellant was jealous of her relationship with Victim and that jealousy was manifested in angry statements made by Appellant when the trio left Denny's, Appellant's physical assault of Victim in the car, and Appellant's angry demeanor when they reached Antoinette's house. (R. 362-72). Antoinette also testified that despite Appellant's jealousy, she sent text messages to Victim saying she loved him within minutes of Victim arriving at the hospital with the stab wounds inflicted by Appellant. (R. 363-66). While Appellant denied hitting Victim in the car, Appellant claimed that Victim grabbed her and pulled her into the front seat and began to hit her. (R. 731, 736-39). Thus, there was evidence before the trial judge that Appellant was angry at Victim over marital infidelity just prior to Appellant stabbing Victim and that Appellant and Victim were engaged in a physical altercation before the stabbing. Accordingly, the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter because evidence existed from which the jury could infer that Appellant killed Victim in the heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.

"To justify charging [a] lesser crime, the evidence presented must allow a rational inference the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense." State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 607,

635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 2006). “The court looks to the totality of the evidence in evaluating whether such an inference has been created.” Id. “A trial judge must charge a lesser included offense if there is any evidence from which the jury could infer the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense.” White, 361 S.C. at 412, 605 S.E.2d at 542. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant.” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 179, 691 S.E.2d 482, 485 (Ct. App. 2010).

Voluntary manslaughter is a lesser included offense of murder. State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 309, 764 S.E.2d 511, 514 (2014). “Voluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000). “Heat of passion alone will not suffice to reduce murder to voluntary manslaughter. Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 572, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007). “In determining whether the act which cause death was impelled by heat of passion or by malice, all the surrounding circumstances and conditions are to be taken into consideration, including previous relations and conditions connected with the tragedy, as well as those existing at the time of the killing.” State v. Gardner, 219 S.C. 97, 104, 64 S.E.2d 130, 134 (1951).

Fighting is sufficient legal provocation to warrant a voluntary manslaughter instruction. State v. Davis, 278 S.C. 544, 546, 298 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1983). “An overt, threatening act or physical encounter may constitute sufficient legal provocation.” State v. Hernandez, 386 S.C. 655, 661, 690 S.E.2d 582, 585 (2010). “Adultery may, in some instances, serve as ‘sufficient legal provocation.’” State v. Gadsden, 314 S.C. 229, 233, 442 S.E.2d 594, 597 (1994).

“The sudden heat of passion, upon sufficient legal provocation, which mitigates a felonious killing to manslaughter, while it need not dethrone reason entirely, or shut out knowledge and volition, must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection, and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.” State v. Walker, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996). “Even when a person’s passion has been sufficiently aroused by a legally adequate provocation, if at the time of the killing those passions had cooled or a sufficiently reasonable person would have cooled, the killing would be murder and not manslaughter.” State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 303, 555 S.E.2d 391, 395 (2001). “Whether an accused cooled off prior to a violent act must be determined by a review of all the circumstances surrounding the event and the people involved.” Hernandez, 386 S.C. at 661, 690 S.E.2d at 585.

Here the trial judge made the following ruling on the State’s request to charge the jury on the offense of voluntary manslaughter:

All right, sir. I’m going to charge voluntary manslaughter. I do believe there is some evidence in the record to—there is evidence in the record that it could’ve occurred based on the heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation. Again, referring to some of the testimony that I talked about at the—in denying the motion for directed verdict<sup>2</sup>, that same evidence would also indicate voluntary manslaughter, and I’m going to charge that to the jury and charge that them to (sic) as lessor included offense.

(R. 957, line 23-R. 958, line 6). The trial judge further elaborated on the specific facts that led to his ruling:

All right. Yesterday we were talking about murder and voluntary manslaughter, and there’s two notes that I have put down and I forgot to put them in the record.

---

<sup>2</sup> When ruling on Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge noted his role was not “to judge the credibility or the believability of the testimony and the evidence presented. My job is to look at whether or not the evidence exists.” (R. 955, lines 1-3).

Again, I'm referring to all of the evidence in the case when I made those decisions about charging murder and voluntary manslaughter. But I did want to note there were two other comments or statements that were made in this case by the witness, and basically, the third party involved that night when she indicated that at the—leaving the Denny's, when she said that the defendant struck the victim. She also made the comment that you should have married her and not me. And then when they got to the—her residence and they dropped her off, she asked the defendant, are you getting into the seat, into the front seat and the defendant answered, no, with an attitude. So, all that just goes to those things that we talked about in deciding about murder and voluntary manslaughter.

(R. 969, line 21-R. 970, line 12).

The aforementioned rulings show the trial judge properly determined that evidence existed from which the jury could conclude that Appellant killed Victim in the heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Because both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present to warrant a charge on voluntary manslaughter, it is instructive to address each element separately.

### **Heat of Passion**

Here, the trial judge was presented with evidence regarding the unique nature of Appellant and Victim's relationship, the testimony of Antoinette as well as Appellant's own text messages showing her state of mind just prior to the stabbing, and a timeline of events showing that Appellant had very little time to cool down and reflect on her actions. Appellant freely admitted she and Victim were in an open relationship. (State's Exhibit #89). Despite the openness of their relationship, Appellant was not immune from the jealousy that may arise in a polyamorous relationship. Antoinette testified that Appellant attempted to kiss her three times throughout the night, but Appellant's attempts were not reciprocated by Antoinette. (R. 352-58). Antoinette opined that Appellant was jealous of Antoinette and Victim's relationship because Appellant wanted Antoinette all for herself. (R. 372). Appellant's anger and jealousy was demonstrated in her assault of Victim that was accompanied by the comment "you shouldn't

have married me; you should've married her." (R. 362, lines 19-20). Appellant was apparently still angry when the trio arrived at Antoinette's home and Appellant refused to move to the front seat. (R. 364). Appellant's behavior was further demonstrated by Officer Martin's interaction with her in the immediate aftermath of the stabbing and his description of Appellant's demeanor as "hysterical" and "belligerent." (State's Exhibit #1, R. 273, lines 10-11).

In addition to Antoinette's testimony, the trial judge had Appellant's text messages to consider as evidence that Appellant was acting in the heat of passion. The State produced a text message sent from Appellant's phone approximately two months before Victim's death where Appellant confided to a friend "I can overlook a lot but after a while, **I just snap...**" (R. 532, lines 19-20). Appellant also sent a message to her father at 5:06 AM that threatened physical harm upon Victim the next time he came to Baltimore. (R. 514, lines 17-21). This text message was evidence of both Appellant's anger towards Victim and her wish to inflict physical violence upon Victim in the minutes immediately before she stabbed him.

In addition to evidence of Appellant's angry state of mind just prior to the stabbing, the trial judge had evidence of how little time Appellant had to cool down from her anger. Antoinette estimated that she, Victim, and Appellant left Denny's at approximately 4:57 AM. (R. 367). Victim took her straight home and she arrived at her home approximately 5:09 AM. (R. 368). A few minutes after she went inside her home, Antoinette texted Victim that she loved him at 5:13 AM. (R. 368). At approximately 5:19 AM, or ten minutes after Appellant and Victim dropped off Antoinette at her home, Victim arrived at the hospital with two stab wounds. (R. 298). Appellant would later claim she remembered the events leading up to the stabbing but did not remember the stabbing itself. (State's Exhibit #89 02:09:20-02:09:30). Therefore, there was evidence before the trial judge, that over an approximately ten minute period of time, Appellant

was so angry with Victim she could not remember stabbing him later. This was evidence that Appellant experienced an uncontrollable impulse to do violence. When considering the testimony of Antoinette, Appellant's text messages, and the short timeline of events, the trial judge appropriately concluded that evidence existed from which the jury could infer that Appellant was acting under the heat of passion when she stabbed Victim.

### **Sufficient Legal Provocation**

The trial judge was presented with evidence of sufficient legal provocation from both the State and the defense. Antoinette testified that Appellant hit Victim inside their car and then said "you shouldn't have married me; you should've married her." (R. 362, lines 19-20). Thus, Antoinette's testimony alone establishes a physical confrontation between Appellant and Victim regarding Victim's infidelity. Even if the jury were to disbelieve Antoinette's testimony, Appellant freely admitted in her own testimony that she and Victim had a physical altercation after Victim pulled her into the front seat of the car. (R. 736-39). Therefore, while Appellant claimed she was acting in self-defense in response to Victim's physical aggression, her testimony is evidence from which a jury could determine that she stabbed Victim upon sufficient legal provocation. Voluntary manslaughter and self-defense are not mutually exclusive. See State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998) (finding the State presented sufficient evidence to create a jury issue regarding whether defendant was acting in self-defense or was guilty of voluntary manslaughter). The jury could have believed Appellant's testimony that Victim assaulted her in the car, but still determine that she did not satisfy the four elements of self-defense but rather killed Appellant after sufficient legal provocation. The trial judge appropriately declined to weigh the evidence presented and merely concluded that evidence existed from which a jury could infer that Appellant acted upon sufficient legal provocation.

Because evidence existed that Appellant stabbed Victim while in the heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation, the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.